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1 Project background 

Cornwall Archaeological Unit (CAU), Cornwall Council were commissioned by Mrs Denny 

Long to carry out an investigation of a large propped granite stone built into the stone 

faced boundary at Lower Tregerthen, Zennor. The site is situated near to several 

identified archaeological sites, including prehistoric flint scatters and a farming 

settlement of medieval origin (Figs 1 and 2). 

A previous visit to the site in March 2016, noted that the stone was approximately 1.5m 

long and 0.4m thick. It projected approximately 0.6m out of the field wall in which it 

was incorporated (Appendix 1). The stone was approximately 0.5m above the present 

ground level within the garden and rested upon a smaller squared stone which acted as 

a support column. The cavity within the boundary was measured as approximately 

1.3m long and 0.75m deep. 

 

2 Aims and objectives 

The agreed aims of the project were to locate, identify and record prehistoric, medieval 

or post-medieval artefacts/activity in the area of the stone, thereby providing further 

information on its date and function. 

 

3 Working methods 

The upper face of the stone was cleared by hand and examined for any indentations or 

markings, such as drilling or splitting, which might indicate a date for the movement of 

the stone to its current site. As similar shaped stones associated with rock art are 

known in the wider vicinity (Jones and Kirkham 2013), it was also inspected for cup-

marks to see if it had been the focus for prehistoric activity.  

An area measuring 1m square was then excavated by hand beneath the west side of 

the stone extending into part of the lawn within the garden. 

All archaeological recording was undertaken according to the Chartered Institute for 

Archaeologists Standards and Guidance for Archaeological Investigation and Recording. 

Drawings were made to scale, where appropriate, of 1:10 for sections, 1:20 for plans. 

 

4 Location, setting and history 
The site, a propped stone within a boundary bank, is located in the boundary to the 

rear of the garden at Lower Tregerthen, Zennor, Cornwall (SW 46590 39124) (Figs 1 

and 2).  

The local geology is described as Land’s End Intrusion – Granite, igneous bedrock 

formed approximately 251 to 359 million years ago in the Permian and Carboniferous 

Periods (BGS 2016). 

The settlement of Tregerthen is of medieval origin and the name first appears as 

Tregyrthyn in 1519 (Nowakowski and Herring 1987). The farm and settlement has a 

pre-Normal origin (Padel 1985). The name contains the Cornish place-name elements 

’tre’ meaning ‘farming settlement’ and  kerden (a likely variation of the name) which is 

taken to mean ‘rowans’ or ‘mountain ashes’. 

The settlement is set within land which has been characterized as being ‘Anciently 

Enclosed Land’ (Herring 1998). This is land enclosed since at least the medieval period, 

although it is likely to have been farmed since prehistory. 
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5 Results 

Site description 

The propped stone consists of two main elements, a large sub-rectangular shaped 

granite slab and a smaller supporting stone.  

The exposed portion of the slab or ‘capstone’ measures approximately 2.2m long, by 

0.7m at its widest point and up to 0.45m thick (this can only be surmised from the 

parts of the stone that are accessible, as the rest is embedded into the hedge bank) 

(Figs 6 and 7). The slab is situated about 0.7m above the ground level of the garden 

lawn, and rests upon by a single almost square granite block, which acts as a support.   

The ‘capstone’ is embedded into the hedge-bank, which is faced by larger granite 

blocks interspersed with smaller rounded granite stones. The stones above the granite 

slab are angled toward the garden, and appear to have been packed onto the slab 

using soil. The bank is well-vegetated with ivy, grasses and small ferns established in 

gaps between the stones. To the east of the bank are four stones which have been 

placed in the side of the bank as a stile (to provide access to the adjoining field and 

track).   

The northern side of the hedge bank measures, from the lawn surface to the top, 1.7m 

high, whereas the southern (field side) of the bank by contrast is only 0.7m high  The 

top the bank is approximately 1.6m wide.  

The second main element, a small squared block of granite, which acts as a support, 

measures 0.53m high on its west side and 0.45m on the east. The sides measured;  

west side 0.25m, east 0.18m, north 0.23m and south, 0.2m (Figs 8 and 9). The top of 

the stone was not flat but had a protrusion on the west side which was touching the 

slab above. The lower section of the north face of the supporting stone showed 

evidence of erosion in the form of a groove running down from west to east. 

Excavation 

The top of the propped stone was first cleared by hand to assess its condition and to 

identify any markings on its surface, such as drill marks, evidence for splitting or cup-

marks. The examination only revealed that the stone has weathered to such an extent 

that a section on the surface of the west side had sheared off leaving an indentation in 

the surface 0.1m deep which continued into the north face of the stone. The edges of 

the upward facing area of the surface were rounded and displayed evidence of 

extensive erosion through exposure to the elements.  

A closer examination of the east and west sides of the stone revealed that only small 

sections appeared to be embedded in or supported by the hedge bank, but this could 

not be examined more thoroughly due to the possibility that the removal of material 

from under these sections could undermine or destabilise the stone.  

Examination of the underside of the slab revealed that some stones to the east 

appeared to be part of the bank upon which the slab was resting, the remaining area 

was covered with small plants, but due to the possibility of destabilising the stone these 

were not removed. 

The supporting stone was not investigated and was left in situ, after a close 

examination revealed that any investigation could destabilise it. 

A 1m square pit (Figs 10 and 11) was excavated by hand beneath the north west side 

of the slab. This excavation revealed a sequence of deposits, which from top to bottom 

were as follows.  

The topsoil (101) was a 0.1m thick layer of dark brown loose silty loam with sparse 

stone inclusions (small particles of decayed granite). The topsoil was not present 

beneath the stone and within this area was (102), a layer of dark brown silty grit, 

0.22m thick. This was loose to trowel, but beyond the edge of the stone it contained a 
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concentration of decayed granite, pieces of flower pot and polythene. Underneath this 

deposit at the north end of the test pit were layers (107) and (108), which were a 

mixture of deposits (102) and (103). They were possibly formed as a result of animal 

burrowing. Underneath these deposits was (103) a mid yellowish brown compact clay 

containing decayed granite, with some large stone inclusions. This layer appeared to 

slope upwards to the south and may be redeposited subsoil which was part of the 

hedge-bank.   

The natural (108) was evident at the north end of the excavation. It was a compact 

layer of mid yellowish brown clay with decayed granite, which is probably the natural 

granitic subsoil, known locally as rab. This deposit was no more than 0.3m below the 

surface of the lawn. 

The excavation (Fig 11) revealed the natural subsoil was less than 1.1m below the level 

of the bottom of the stone. The propped stone itself is partially embanked with a stone 

faced bank which behind the granite facing appears to be largely cpmposed of 

redeposited subsoil (103).   

 

6 Conclusion 

The investigation of the propped stone in the hedge bank did not by itself reveal the 

date of this feature, and finds recovered from the test pit were modern. An examination 

of historic Tithe Map and OS mapping, however, revealed that the farm buildings and 

field boundaries in the immediate area had been reorganised between 1841 and 1907, 

with very significant changes being made between 1880 and 1907 (Figs 3-5). The 

results from the excavation and inspection of the stones make it seem very likely that 

the propped stone was built into the stone-faced bank during this period and that it was 

part of the boundary. 

There was no definite evidence to confirm that this feature was a shelter or ‘crow’, but 

the presence of others within the local landscape could support this probability. Crows 

were constructed and used in Cornwall (Nicholas 1967) as animal shelters. Larger 

examples were used to hold pigs but smaller structures were used to hold hens, geese 

or bees (known as ‘beeboles’). The example at Lower Tregerthen is near the farmstead 

and given its relatively small size could have been used as a shelter for chickens or 

geese.  
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Figure 1: Location of site. 

Figure 2: Map showing location of excavation at Lower Tregerthen. 
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Figure 3: Tithe Map c1841, showing buildings and field boundary, note the trackway to the south. 

Figure 4: First Edition of the Ordnance Survey 25 Inch Map, c1880 (location of current farm 
buildings outlined in red). 
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Figure 5: Second Edition of the Ordnance Survey 25 Inch Map, c1907 c1880 (location of current 
farm buildings outlined in red). 
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Figure 6: Pre excavation image of the propped stone and its setting looking south east. 

Figure 7: Close up of the propped stone, 1m scale. 
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Figure 8: Point of contact between the supporting stone and the underside of the covering slab. 

Figure 9: Image looking SW showing the supporting stone. 
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Figure 11: Post excavation view of test pit. 

Figure 10: South west facing section showing location of stone above excavation and the field 
bank. 
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Appendix 1: Written Scheme of Investigation for an 
Archaeological Investigation at Lower Tregerthen, Zennor. 
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